


Notice of Violation 2

Contrary to the above, as of November 6, 1992, the licensee did not keep
records of receipt for a Kay Ray, Inc. Model 7062BP gauge housing a
nomival 50 millicurie cesium-137 sealed source.

Ihis 15 a Severity Level V Violation (Supplement VI).

10 CFR 31.5(c)(4) requires, in part, that any persen who acquires,
receives, poisesses, uses or transfers byproduct material in a device
pursuant to a general license shall maintain records showing the results
of tests for leakage and proper operation of the on-off mechanism and
indicator, and of other testing, installation, servicing, and removal
from installation invelving the radioactive material, its shielding or
containment. The records must show the dates of performance of, and the
names of the persons performing, the recorded event and be retained for
three years or until the sealed source is transferred or disposed of.

Contrary to the above, as of November 6, 1992, the licensee did not
maintain records of leak tests performed in April 1988, on a nominal 50
millicurie cesium-137 sealed source housed in a Kay Ray, Inc. Model
70628P device, and device installation records from initial device
installation in approximately 1985,

This 1s a Severity Level V Violation (Supplement VI).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Parker Hannifin Corporation

15 hereby required to <. bmit a written statement or explanation to the U.S,
Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Region 111, 799 Roosevelt Road, Glen Elly:,
I11inois, 60137, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this
Notice of Violation (Notice). This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply
to a Notice of Vielation" and should include for each violation: (1) the
reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for disnuting the
violation, (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the results
achieved, (3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further
violations, and (4) the date when full compliance will be achieved, If an
adequate reply is not received within the time specified in this Notice, an
order or a demand for information may be issued as to why the license should
not be modified, suspended, or revoked, or why such other action as may be
proper should not be taken. Where good cause is shown, consideration will be

given to extending the response time.
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Dated 8. J. WAL, Chief
Nuclear Materials inspection
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